INTRODUCTION 

Recognizing that the Court does not view favorably 

repetitious argument, Respondent-Appellant Boyle will 

submit this brief reply to the Brief of Complainant-

Respondent. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE SANCTION RECOMMENDED BY THE 
REFEREE EXCEEDS WHAT IS NECESSARY 
AND APPROPRIATE. 

There a few aspects of OLR's reply brief that will be 

addressed specifically. First off on Page five, OLR 

indicates that "Moses paid Boyle $20,000.00 for sloppy 

legal work." (OLR Brief p. 5). There is absolutely no 

indication in the record that supports this statement. 

Matter of fact, the Referee in this matter indicated that 

the work was performed on the Moses matter. The Referee 

states "I am satisfied that she did spend substantial time 

handling Moses' file. Her time included investigation, 

file review, transcript review, a direct appeal to the 7th 

Circuit, and a 2255 motion and brief. " (44:21). OLR 

indicates that there were very few letters that were sent 

to Moses. (OLR Brief p. 5) . The fact that Moses may have 

received few letters does not justify a finding of 
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misconduct. There were briefs filed in both the Appellate 

Court and the District Court in that matter. OLR also 

states that each of these clients were "vulnerable u because 

they were sentenced to prison. (OLR Brief p. 6). Granted 

that might be a generalized statement, but there is no 

evidence to suggest that these clients were weak. Boyle 

was not responsible for putting them in prison. Either the 

clients created their own situation by their conduct that 

put them in prison or another lawyer was responsible for 

putting them in prison. 

OLR cites a number of cases to support its position. 

These cases can all be distinguished. First off, In the 

Matter of Disciplinary Proceedings Against Jevon Jaconi, 

2003 WI 137, 267 wis.2d 1, 671 N.W.2d 1, in this matter 

Jaconi stipulated to 20 counts of misconduct with six 

different clients. It appears from the stipulation in that 

matter that one of the most egregious counts of misconduct 

involved a client which acquired a warrant for Jaconi's 

failure to follow proper and long standing criminal 

procedure by informing the client that they did not have to 

appear on a felony matter. This conduct resulted in the 

client having an additional charge of bail jumping. Id. at 

6. 
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In Disciplinary Proceedings Against Cavendish-

Sosinski, 2004 WI 30, 270 Wis.2d 200, 676 N.W.2d 887, this 

was a matter in which Cavendish-Sosinski defaulted on a 25 

count disciplinary complaint. The decision in that matter 

is extremely lengthy in examples of Cavendish-Sosinski's 

misconduct with nine different clients. In matter, 

Cavendish-Sosinski received a 9 month suspension of her 

license for all of the matters that were set forth in the 

complaint that she defaulted on. 

In Disciplinary Procee:iings Against Boyd, 2009 WI 59, 

318 Wis.2d 281, 767 N.W.2d 226, Boyd had at least 5 prior 

disciplines with the Supreme Court. Also in the this 

matter, it appears from the record in that case that there 

were two clients who lost their ability to proceed in their 

respective courts. One lost the ability to proceed in 

Federal Court due to Boyd not filing the court paperwork. 

Id. at 7. Another client lost the ability to proceed 

before the Wisconsin Court of Appeals. 

matter, it was a default situation. 

Id. at 18. In this 

In Disciplinary Procee:iings Against Joset, 2008 WI 41, 

309 Wis.2d 5, 748 N.W.2d 778, this was another example of a 

default situation. Therefore, there was no testimony as to 

the conduct of Joset. As a result, it is difficult to 
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assess the actual facts of Joset's matter with the case at 

hand due to the fact that there was a default. 

OLR has also cited Disciplinary Proceedings Against 

DeGracie, 2004 WI 44, 270 ~7is.2d 640, 678 N.W.2d 252. In 

that matter it certainly indicates that DeGracie was 

punished for eight month even though he had no prior 

disciplinary history. However, in that matter, DeGracie 

never appeared for any hearing, he never appeared for any 

telephone scheduling conference and it appears he defaulted 

on the complaint. Id. at 1. 

Finally in Disciplinary Proceedings Against Glynn, 

2000 WI 117, 238 Wis.2d 860, 618 N.W.2d 740, he stipulated 

to a nine month consecutive suspension for three clients. 

This was a Disciplinary matter that had obviously no 

testimony or evidence because of the stipulation 'that was 

agreed upon. 

In the previous brief that has been submitted, the 

undersigned has discussed the facts in Bowe and therefore, 

will not discuss them again in this brief. 

OLR has correctly cited the disciplinary of each of 

the above-mentioned matters. However, all of them are 

situations of either defaults or stipulations. In this 

matter there were three different hearing dates in which 

testimony was offered regarding the specific facts of each 
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client. The undersigned is aware of the fact that this 

Honorable Court will review this matter in its entirety in 

order to ascertain whether or not the Referee's decision 

was correct and whether the penalty was correct. 

Finally, OLR indicates 

$24,500.00 restitution in the 

that Boyle should 

Pearson matter. 

pay 

The 

undersigned can only assume that OLR has made an error in 

this requested amount since the evidence in the record is 

that Pearson paid $2,500.00. There is absolutely no 

evidence that Pearson paid $24,500.00 to Boyle. 

Having stated that in Disciplinary Proceedings Against 

Boyd, 2009 WI 59, 318 WIs.2d 281, 767 N.W.2d 226, there is 

a discussion as to whether or not a client in that matter 

was entitled to restitution. In Boyd, it discusses that 

the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection provides some 

guidance as to what constitutes a "reimbursable loss." It 

states that if the loss was caused by "the dishonest 

conduct of an attorney." at 28, See SCR 

12.045 (7) (a) (1) . Furthermore it states that client 

"discipline for professional misconduct, provides that 

restitution may be ordered when the client's money or 

property was 'misappropriated or misapplied." Id. at 28, 

See SCR 21.16 (2m) (a) 1. The Court stated in Boyd that even 

though the client paid "$1,800 for very substandard-indeed 
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incompetent-legal work. While G.W. may have grounds for a 

civil action against Attorney Boyd, it appears that the 

$1,800 fee does not meet the criteria the OLR uses to 

assess whether restitution was reasonable." 

In the Pearson matter, Boyle produced evidence of work 

that was performed on that matter, specifically a draft 

motion. Boyle also indicated that she read the 

transcripts. In addition Boyle had a meeting with Barbara 

Terry and phone calls with both Terry and Pearson. As 

previously stated in her initial filing, Boyle was not 

responsible for the errors in Pearson's appeal. She was 

hired in an attempt to rectify the problems created by 

Pearson's former lawyer; Ann Bowe. OLR offers no evidence 

in its brief to suggest that the work was not performed. 

Boyle submits that the Pearson matter is exactly why 

the concept of arbitration has been created and instituted. 

During the course of the hearing in this matter Barbara 

Terry's credibility was challenged and to rely solely upon 

her word would be amiss considering the evidence that was 

produced at the hearing. One specific example of the 

challenge to her credibility is that Terry indicates that 

she had no idea that Boyle was in trial. She basically 

indicates that she would not have hired Boyle if she knew 

she had an upcoming trial. (47:196, 207). However in the 
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voicemail played during the hearing, Terry stated that she 

knew that Boyle was in trial. (48:410). 

The Pearson matter is not a matter in which Boyle had 

the case for a year and did not perform any work on it. 

She had the matter for a period of two weeks and shortly 

after that time she was terminated but Boyle submits that 

work was performed on the matter. 

CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons stated herein, Respondent-

Appellant Boyle hereby restates the requested outcome set 

forth in her previous submission.