RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-22-2013

SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

APPEAL NO. 2011AP001767 D

IN THE MATTER OF DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS AGAINST BRIDGET E. BOYLE, ATTORNEY AT LAW

OFFICE OF LAWYER REGULATION,

Complainant-Respondent,

vs.

BRIDGET E. BOYLE,

Respondent-Appellant,

APPEAL FROM REFEREE JAMES J. WINIARSKI'S FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND RECOMMENDATION FOR DISCIPLINE DATED OCTOBER 16, 2012

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

BRIDGET E. BOYLE State Bar I.D. No. 1024879

BOYLE, BOYLE & BOYLE, S.C. 2051 W. Wisconsin Avenue Milwaukee, WI 53233 (414) 343-3300

Attorneys for the Respondent-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

The law in this matter has been clearly established. This Court will affirm the referee's findings of fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Eisenberg, 2004 WI 14, 5, 269 Wis.2d 43, 675 N.W.2d 747. Furthermore this Court has indicated that the referee's conclusion of law is reviewed de novo. Id. As it relates to the discipline in each case, this Court has indicated that it will determine the appropriate level of discipline given the particular facts This Court will however review the in each case. discipline independent of the referee's recommendation but will benefit from it. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Widule, 2003 WI 34, 44, 261 Wis.2d 45, 660 N.W.2d 686.

The first matter to be discussed is the six counts as it relates to Moses. The Referee in this matter found that OLR had met their burden as it relates to all of these Counts. Specifically, Counts Four through Nine.

Boyle would submit that Counts Four, Five and Six are all interrelated. All of these counts stand for the proposition that Boyle did not respond to Moses' requests, failed to keep him informed about the status of his appellate matters and failed to comply promptly with his repeated requests for information. The Referee concluded that OLR met their burden on these Counts, however, the Referee does not specifically identify any facts to support this conclusion other than to discuss general information and facts.

Boyle agrees that there were letters that she received from Moses that she did not respond to. However some of these letters were discussed with Moses on the telephone. (275, 280). As to other letters that were introduced at the hearing, Boyle indicated that she never received. (285, 287, 301, 307). Even at the hearing there became a question as to whether or not Moses even had sent out some of the claimed letters based upon the fact that he indicated that he always signs his letters when they are sent out and three of the claimed letters were not signed. (97). Moses also testified that there were visits with him at the prison. (124, 133). Moses also testified that he personally spoke with Boyle on 15 occasions. Boyle however

claims that number to be 25 to 35 times. (384). Furthermore, Boyle provided proof of three conference calls (384). Boyle indicated that she met with Moses 5 times prior to him entering the prison system. (379). Boyle also indicated that she met with Christine Stoffel 3 or 4 times and one time with Moses' father in Fond du Lac (383). Finally, Mr. Gerald Boyle indicated that he met with Moses and with Moses' father. (150-151).

One point that was discussed at great length during the hearing was the 84 phone calls that Moses made to Boyle's phone shortly after the oral arguments in this matter. (106). Boyle does not dispute that, but would note for the record there was absolutely nothing going on with Moses' case at that point in time. This was right after the oral arguments. Moses was talked with about the oral arguments and there was no activity on his case at that other than to wait for point in time а decision. Furthermore, it should be noted that there is nothing in the record to suggest that Moses sent a letter to Boyle with any sort of request or question about his appeal during this timeframe. There is nothing in the record nor does Moses indicate that he needed anything during this timeframe.

It should also be noted that Boyle had no idea that Moses was calling. Specifically, phone calls would come in as "private". As indicated in the record if he called, the calls were at inopportune times. He called while Boyle was in court, he called while Boyle was on the other line, he called when Boyle did not have the opportunity to answer his call and spend the time with him. (48:424-428). This was not a situation where Boyle could return the phone calls, even if she knew that the call was specifically from Moses and if there was something of great significance, Moses had the ability to contact family members and friend Having stated that, the record to rely any messages. supports only one conclusion that the 84 phone calls where in regards to anything specific just that Moses not attempted to call.

As to Count Seven, the Referee found that the initial difficulty with the Moses matter was due to the fact that there was no written fee agreement. The Referee indicated that since there was no written fee agreement there was not a clear understanding as to what services would be performed for Moses. The Referee indicates that since Moses had a belief that he was entitled to have certain things done in his matter that his perception was correct.

For instance, Moses testified that he wanted a bail motion pending appeal. This Court is well aware of the fact that there must be a certain threshold met in order to obtain bail pending appeal. Furthermore a motion for bail pending appeal is rarely granted and rarely filed. Moses also claimed that he thought his matter would include a possible Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court.

The Referee fails to assess the credibility of Moses. In the hearing, Moses' credibility was challenged greatly and it became clear that Moses believed that it was proper for submissions of false affidavits to Courts. (47:102). Therefore, when Moses indicates that he believed that his retention of Boyle included a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court, when Boyle was not admitted to such court, the Referee in this matter accepts his word.

The Referee correctly notes that Moses was a high maintenance client who was attempting to do everything to avoid going to prison. As a result, he wanted bail pending appeal. Having stated that, just because a client wants bail pending appeal, that does not mean that they get bail pending appeal. Nor does that mean that they are entitled to even file for a request for bail pending appeal. Yet it

should be noted that even though there was not a motion for bail pending appeal filed in his matter, there was a motion for a furlough due to the floods that occurred in his home town. Boyle also filed a stay of his report-in date to prison. (47:79).

Boyle stated in the hearing that it is impossible to determine precisely what legal services will be appropriate until after the file is completely reviewed. The Referee indicates that there is some truth to that proposition. Referee indicated that except for the However, the communications with Moses in relation to the direct appeal, satisfied that there was no meaningful he was communications between Moses and Boyle as to the services that she would perform. (44:18). The problem with that conclusion is that the evidence at the hearing was contrary to that conclusion. Moses testified that prior to his report-in to prison that there were meetings with Boyle to discuss the appeal and the strategy. (47:81). Moses also testified that were visits with him at the prison. (48:124, Moses also testified that he personally spoke with 133). Boyle on 15 occasions.

The Referee also indicates that Boyle failed to communicate the basis for her fee and therefore violated

former SCR 20:1.5(b). There is no indication that Boyle failed to communicate the fee. Boyle charged a flat fee to attempt to get Moses a new trial. This fee was for his appeal after his conviction in the District Court. That communicated to Moses. was However what was not communicated to Moses was the other issues in his case that came up after the agreement to represent him. Boyle did not know there were going to be floods in Fond du Lac. Boyle did not know there were going to be issues with his classification in the prison. These issues came up well after the fact and were handled appropriately. Consequently, the fee arrangement was properly communicated to Moses insomuch that he was able to understand the goals of his representation which was to try to get him some relief from his conviction and relief from his prison term.

Boyle does not dispute Count Eight which indicates that she did not provided an accounting of legal fees and expenses contrary to SCR 20:15(b)(3). Furthermore, Boyle does not dispute Count Nine which indicates that she failed to surrender Moses' file in a timely fashion after multiple attempts in violation of SCR 20:1.16(d). However, as it relates this count, Boyle produced evidence at the hearing

that the federal prison would not accept the banker boxes and they needed to be delivered in person. (48:377).

In the Pearson matter, the Referee concluded as it relates to Count Ten that OLR did not meet their burden of proof that Boyle did not take any meaningful action on behalf Pearson during the period of time Bovle of represented Pearson. However, the Referee found that OLR did meet their burden as it relates to Counts Eleven, Thirteen; by keeping the \$2,500 fee Twelve and for representation that Boyle did not complete. Furthermore the Referee found that by failing to deposit the \$2,500 advanced fee into her trust account and instead depositing the money into her law firm operating account with no evidence of utilizing the alternative fee placement, Boyle violated SCR 20:1.15(b)(4). Finally, the Referee found that Boyle failed to refund any unearned fees to Terry and therefore Boyle violated SCR 20:1.16(d).

Boyle disagrees with the Referee's reasoning regarding keeping a \$2,500 fee for representation that she did not complete. The Referee indicated that she did not perform any meaningful legal services for Pearson. (44:22). Boyle disagrees with that statement. The Referee indicates that he did not believe that Boyle read the transcripts in this

matter. As indicated in his decision he states that "a staff member . . . testified that she saw Boyle reading Pearson's transcripts after Boyle was retained by Terry, however, Boyle testified that she reviewed the transcripts over the weekend at home. In any case Boyle's claim that she immediately reviewed the transcripts, thus justifying the \$2,500 legal fee charged, is not supported by the evidence." (44:22).

There was additional work performed on the Pearson matter that the Referee has not cited or recognized. First off, there was a meeting and phone calls with Barbara Terry and Pearson. (48:334, 337, 340, 346). Also as indicated at the hearing, there was a draft motion created to attempt to reinstate his appeal rights. (48:330).

The Referee indicates that he did not believe that Boyle read the transcripts before a trial that was substantial in nature. The trial in question was <u>State v</u>. <u>James Howard</u>, 09CF1245. (48:415). As indicated at the hearing, the Howard matter had been scheduled a number of times before and even though there was preparation that needed to be done over that weekend, it had been prepared the other times it was scheduled for trial. (48:416).

The Referee indicates that the work that was performed in this matter was minimal and therefore the fee of \$2,500 was unreasonable. Furthermore the Referee indicated that Boyle failed to account for or refund the unearned fees. The fee that was paid was a minimal portion of the agreed upon fee. As indicated at the hearing, Barbara Terry testified that the total fee was \$7,500. This fee however would be reduced if Boyle could not get Pearson's appellate rights reinstated. (47:203). This is confirmed with the retainer letter that was sent to her that she acknowledged receiving but refused to sign. (47:203).

Finally as it relates to the matter, the Referee found that Boyle placed the \$2,500 of unearned advanced fee into her business account. (44:23). Boyle agrees that the money was not deposited in the trust account. Boyle would submit that this will be discussed in greater detail in the disciplinary portion of this brief.

Boyle contends that she did not refund any fees to Terry because it was earned. Boyle contends that work was performed and she was entitled to payment for said work. Certainly Boyle would agree that if Terry paid the entire fee, Terry would absolutely be entitled to a refund. However in this matter, the entire fee was not paid and

Boyle performed work on the matter. The Referee found that Boyle should return the \$2,500 fee in this matter. Boyle again submits that work was performed and if there was an issue about whether or not that work justified a fee of \$2,500, that is an issue for arbitration not for suspension from the practice of law.

DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED

As stated above, the Court has a responsibility to review the appropriate discipline independently from the Referee's decision in this matter. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Reitz, 2005 WI 39, 74, 279 Wisc.2d 550, 694 N.W.2d 894. This Court had indicated that there are a number of factors that must be considered in deciding the appropriate discipline. First off, the Court must consider the seriousness of the misconduct. The Court also must consider the need to protect the public, courts, and legal system from the repetition of misconduct. Finally the Court has indicated the need to impress upon the attorney the seriousness of the misconduct and the need to deter other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Arthur, 2005 WI 40, 78, 279 WIs.2d 583, 694 N.W.2d 910.

This was a matter that involved significant testimony. Furthermore, the hearing which occurred over three days had a substantial amount of exhibits. The totality of the hearing in this matter involves the representation of two clients. It should be noted that at the hearing matters were addressed that were not alleged as allegations. (48:361-364).

As it relates to the Moses matter, Boyle has indicated that there were letters received and not responded to. However, Boyle would indicate that some of said letters were discussed via the phone. Boyle has also indicated and the Referee indicates that the only reason that she did not become aware of the denial of the 2255 based upon the unique nature of the ECF filing system. It should be noted that a letter was sent to Moses regarding the denial of the $7^{\rm th}$ Circuit Court of Appeals but he did not receive said letter due to an error by her office staff. (47:243).

As it relates to Pearson, there is no evidence to suggest that Pearson was at all harmed. The harm that occurred to Pearson occurred well before Boyle had ever become involved in his matter. Boyle is in no way responsible for the loss of his appellate rights because the record is clear that another attorney was the person

responsible for losing Pearson's appellate rights. The only issue before the Court as it relates to the Pearson matter is whether or not Boyle earned the fee and whether or not the failure of depositing the \$2,500 in the trust account amounts to a significant discipline of the loss of the ability to work as a lawyer.

It appears on the face of this issue that this is an issue that should have been resolved with arbitration. Boyle submits that the reason that the arbitration provision was put into place was exactly for this reason, to wit: to decide whether or not the attorney had earned the money for work performed. If a person sees a doctor and does not like the doctor after the appointment or decides that they want a second opinion, the doctor will still bill for the services rendered. For some reason Terry and Pearson decided that they wanted to go in a different direction. They have that right. However, Boyle submits that she has the ability to get paid for the time and effort that she put into the matter. It seems unjust to suggest that she does not have that right. Having stated that, if this Court believes that Terry has a right to a refund in this matter, Boyle submits that the proper

venue for that decision would be through arbitration and not through a suspension of her license.

As it relates to the \$2,500 fee not being deposited in the trust account, Boyle submits that she did not believe that it was required to be placed into the trust account. It also should be noted that Boyle does not have any control over the money in her office. (47:247). She is not a signor on the checking accounts, she has no control over the money and she is paid on salary. (47:247). Therefore, she does not dictate where the money goes because she is an employee without any monetary control.

Having stated the above, coupled with the fact that Boyle believes that the money was earned, Boyle would submit that this should not result in any suspension of her license.

There have been many matters before this Honorable Court that deal with lawyers who have issues regarding notification of matters to the clients. In <u>In re</u> <u>Disciplinary Proceedings Against Ann Bowe</u>, 2011 WI 48, 334 Wis.2d 360, 800 N.W.2d 367 (2011), this Court imposed a private reprimand for four counts of misconduct in relation to Bowe's failure to properly serve a Respondent in a

divorce and indicating to the court that proper service was executed.

In Bowe, the facts are that Ms. Bowe indicated that she properly served the Respondent in a divorce action. However, the Respondent was never served. Based upon the Court believing that the Respondent was in fact served, the divorce trial proceeded findings of and facts and conclusion of law were prepared due to the default of the Respondent. Bowe's client eventually had to hire a different lawyer and the divorce was reopened. The client had to pay additional fees to the subsequent divorce lawyer.

The Court in the <u>Bowe</u> matter found that even though OLR had made a recommendation of a suspension for 60 days, the Referee's decision to impose a public reprimand was appropriate. The Court indicated that based upon the referee's observation that she accepted responsibility for her actions, expressed remorse and recognized the impact on her client, she should receive a public reprimand. In this matter, there is absolutely no claim by anyone that they were harmed by Boyle's representation, such as what is set for in Bowe.

The Referee has discussed the appropriate discipline in this matter. He has indicated that a four month suspension of Boyle's license is appropriate. This is the exact suspension that OLR requested in their complaint. (R:1). Being in mind that OLR dismissed three counts during the hearing, this was still the requested discipline. Having stated that, the Referee found certain mitigating aspects. For instance, the Referee indicated that Boyle has a reputation in the community as a fine criminal defense lawyer. (44:25). The Honorable David Hansher testified as to his positive observations of Boyle and her reputation in the community. (44:25). The Referee properly notes that Boyle's problems have occurred in the recent years.

Boyle would submit that as indicated over and over throughout the hearing in this matter, that there were medical issues that started in 2009. (48:364). Boyle has explained with the corroboration of other office staff that the health issues were a significant issue since 2009. (47:149, 258).

The Referee indicates that Boyle needs to communicate with her clients from the beginning to the end of her representation. (44:24). Boyle does not disagree with that

statement. Having stated that, Boyle would submit that a four month suspension of her license for the failure to communicate with Moses based upon the specific record in this matter does not seem to be appropriate. There have been numerous examples of lawyers not communicating with clients and those lawyers have not received a suspension of four months. See <u>In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against</u> <u>Michael J. Hicks</u>, 2012WI12, 809 N.W.2d 33 (2012), Public Reprimand of Michael J. Masnica, 1999-7 and Private Reprimand 2006-1.

Based upon the above arguments and the facts and circumstances that were presented at the hearing, Boyle would submit that a public reprimand is appropriate in this matter. There is no suggestion or finding that there was any dishonesty or fraud involved in these matters. As a result, Boyle would request that this Honorable Court impose a public reprimand.

CONCLUSION

For all reasons stated herein and the arguments set forth in support thereof, Respondent-Appellant Bridget E. Boyle respectfully asks that this Honorable Court impose a disciplinary sanction short of suspension of her license and submits that a more appropriate sanction would be a public reprimand or other sanctions the Court deems appropriate short of suspension.